FISEVIER

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Trends in Analytical Chemistry

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/trac



Laboratory analysis of CBRN-substances: Stakeholder networks as clue to higher CBRN resilience in Europe



Agneta H. Plamboeck ^{a,*}, Svenja Stöven ^a, Raquel Duarte Davidson ^b, Else-Marie Fykse ^c, Mark Griffiths ^b, Maarten Nieuwenhuizen ^d, Cédric Rivier ^e, Marcel van der Schans ^d

- ^a European CBRNE center, Umeå University, 901 87 Umeå, Sweden
- ^b Centre for Radiation, Chemicals and Environmental Hazards, Public Health England, Harwell Science Park, Didcot OX11 ORQ, UK
- ^c Norwegian Defence Research Establishment (FFI), P. O. Box 25, N 2027 Kjeller, Norway
- ^d Netherlands Organisation for Applied Scientific Research, Schoemakerstraat 97, Delft 2628, VK, Netherlands
- e CEA, DEN, DRCP, F-30207 Bagnols-sur-Ceze, France

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Standardisation Resilient society Immediate incident response Forensic investigations Post incident monitoring Sample analyses Laboratory network Hazardous substances

ABSTRACT

The threat of terrorists using CBRN agents continues to pose a risk of mass casualties and severe disruption of societal functions in Europe. Standardisation of crisis management activities is one important step towards effective national and international interoperability and increased resilience. Understanding which CBRN agents are involved in an incident is vital for appropriate response measures. We applied a system's view on the process of CBRN sample analysis and see three discrete applications; Immediate incident response, Forensics, Post incident monitoring. Together with laboratory experts and policy makers from across Europe we identified needs for quality assurance measures in these three areas. Here, we suggest various harmonisation activities that can facilitate interoperability between all stakeholders concerned with CBRN sample analysis. Foremost, we recommend purpose-oriented laboratory networks, but also minimum performance requirements for First Responders' detection and sampling capabilities, best practices for sample transport and documentation.

© 2016 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction		3
2.	Methodology		3
3.	Needs and critical aspects		4
	3.1.	Analysis of chemical substances	4
	3.2.	Analysis of biological agents	5
	3.3.	Analysis of radio-nuclear substances	5
4. Suggesti		estions and perspectives for standardisation activities	6
	4.1.	Immediate incident response	6
	4.2.	Forensic investigations	6
	4.3.	Post incident monitoring (mid-/long-term perspective)	7
	4.4.	Laboratory network	7
5.	Conclusions		7
	Acknowledgement		8
	References 8		8

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +46 (0)73 211 10 00. E-mail address: Agneta.Plamboeck@umu.se (A.H. Plamboeck).

1. Introduction

In the last decades a number of chemical, biological or radionuclear (CBRN) threats have been directed at the civil society. The threat of terrorists using CBRN agents continues to develop and poses a risk of mass casualties and severe disruption of societal functions in Europe. Therefore, response capabilities to counter and mitigate such threats need to be developed and made available to the European community. By issuing the EU CBRN Action Plan [1] and approving the Decision of the European Parliament and of the Council on serious cross-border threats to health [2], the EU Commission demonstrated that it regards CBRN issues with high priority. The overall goal of the Action plan and the Decision is an allhazard approach to reduce the threat of and damage from CBRN incidents of accidental, natural or intentional origin, including acts of terrorism.

With the aim of increasing societal resilience against CBRN incidents, recent European efforts and initiatives have been directed towards standardisation of response and preparedness activities that can facilitate effective and efficient national and international interoperability. Such efforts include initiatives like "Mandate M/487", which was led by Technical Committee 391 "Societal and Citizen Security" of the European Committee for Standardization [3] and states that some degree of international 'standardisation' will be required – both as a way to regulate ('top-down') as well as a way to learn from others and to overcome resistance/roadblocks ('bottom-up') in the CBRN domain. Another example of recent standardization initiatives is the EU project "Standardisation for Laboratory Analytical Methods" [4], a cooperation and support action under the seventh framework programme, in which the authors have been involved with, and which is the basis for this paper.

Understanding which CBRN substances are involved in an incident is vital for appropriate crisis management. The samples that are to be collected, transported and analysed are usually of either biomedical (blood, tissue, urine etc.) or environmental nature (air, water, soil, surface wipes, powder etc.). Procedures and protocols warranting the reliable and timely identification of as many agents as possible (if not all) must be in place beforehand; they need to be tested, evaluated and trained in order to ensure the necessary accuracy of the results. Many times alternative protocols (alternative technical or procedural solutions) are available for sample preparation or for the identification analysis of specific groups of CBR agents or types of samples. Different laboratories may use different protocols. It is therefore of outmost importance to allow for a comparison of results from different laboratories. Furthermore, sampling procedures, sample preparation and analysis protocols are often very complex, which further emphasises the need for standardisation in order to improve reliability, efficiency and comparability of the results. This is especially relevant for matters of international cooperation, e.g. assistance with laboratory capacity across borders or an incident affecting neighbouring countries. In this context, regulations for the transport of CBRN samples - especially across national borders - should not be forgotten, both for ensuring a safe and timely transport and for preserving the integrity of the sample(s).

We have together with laboratory experts and policy makers across Europe identified the needs for standardisation activities throughout the process of CBRN sample analysis to achieve a more resilient European society in the future. In this paper we discuss those needs and recommend activities to meet the needs. The term "standardisation" is used in this paper interchangeably with "harmonisation" to illustrate that the concept not only covers standards *per se* but also complementary processes and publications such as technical specifications, guidelines, workshop agreements, best practices etc. In the broadest sense, a standard is a document that sets out requirements for a specific item, material, component,

system or service, or describes in detail a particular method or procedure. Standards bring benefits to businesses and consumers in terms of reducing costs, enhancing performance and improving quality and safety [5].

2. Methodology

Because of the complexity and the differences between the areas of C, B, and RN analyses, a common definition has been used to consider CBRN incidents and applications for laboratory procedures: "A CBRN incident is an event where substances of chemical, biological or radio-nuclear nature have been released intentionally or accidentally and which have the potential to harm people".

We applied a system's view on the need for quality assurance and control measures, i.e. the need for standards in the area of CBRN sample analysis. This system's view considers the entire processing chain, from sample collection and transport to sample preparation, analysis and interpretation of results; and structures CBRN analysis into three discrete applications:

- Immediate incident response
- Forensic investigations
- · Post incident monitoring

These three applications and their specific requirements are further detailed below.

In the immediate incident response (for operational use) the aim of the analyses is to identify the threat agent as soon as possible so that the appropriate response, e.g. medical care or setting up security zones, can be adopted in a timely manner. Various numbers and types of samples will have to be analysed with low to medium resolution, with less accuracy but high speed in order to identify the threat agent. It is often argued that a silent release of pathogenic microorganisms will not require an immediate response because clinical symptoms may be the first alert of a biological incident. Nonetheless if a warning of a potential release has been received or a typical crime scene can be identified the immediate incident response will be relevant.

The aim of forensic investigation analyses is to link the agent to the cause of an accident or to the perpetrator of an attack, respectively. Few samples and sample types will have to be analysed with high resolution and accuracy in order to identify not only the agent itself but also its source. These analyses require careful continuous chain of custody (handling log) in order to undoubtedly and unquestionably preserve the integrity of the sample(s) and the entire processing chain.

The aims of post incident monitoring (mid-/long-term perspective) analyses are to i) determine the scale of the release, ii) ensure medical follow up, iii) monitor contamination levels for clearance purposes and for definition of acceptable threshold levels. Large numbers of samples of one or few types have to be analysed over a longer period of time. This kind of screening might be slower but ought to be reliable and requires higher sensitivity of the analytical method compared to those methods used during the immediate incident response. Degradation or metabolisation of the CBR agent over time poses an additional challenge.

The generic needs were identified during two international workshops and based on scenarios, which were specifically developed for the purpose of the workshops to cover a broad range of analytical requirements and issues like cross-border sample transport, or interpretation and communication of results. The workshops were arranged to engage with laboratory experts and policy makers across Europe that are involved in the development of common methods, procedures and protocols for the detection, analysis and identification of CBRN substances and to enable comparison of results from different laboratories and operators within Europe. Full details of

the workshops, experts and stakeholders that participated and conclusions are presented by Griffiths and co-workers [6,7]. Participation included both reference and accredited laboratories to obtain information on current capabilities and capacities as well as regulatory bodies to determine their required capabilities and capacities.

The gap analysis followed the chronology of the analytical process starting with sampling and sample transport through sample preparation and analysis to reporting of the findings. In the following we matched the generic needs for each application with standardisation solutions at both the operational and strategic level.

3. Needs and critical aspects

One of the key requirements for CBRN preparedness and resilience is the capability to identify CBRN agents that have been released during an incident and pose a threat to humans. The number of substances that can be included in a CBRN substance list is huge and it is therefore essential to clearly define what types of substances are important in case of a CBRN incident.

Chemical substances were selected from the US-EPA document [8] according to criteria such as toxicity, availability, ease of dissemination and stability in the environment. Drugs, explosives and household chemicals were not considered to be part of a major CBRN incident. The selected compounds were grouped into chemical warfare agents (CWA) and toxic industrial chemicals (TIC). CWA's were divided into live agents and precursors and degradation products, TIC's were divided into organic and inorganic compounds.

The biological agents relevant to CBRN incidents fulfil criteria such as contagiousness, infectious dose, stability in the environment, and probability of intentional release. We also considered the need for standardization of analytical procedures of biological agents specifically in environmental matrices [9–13].

The radionuclides of interest are those which are most likely to be a threat to humans in the case of radiological and nuclear terrorist acts, incidents or accidents and historical cases of radiological and nuclear terrorism acts and accidents which have been reported and described by the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) [14–16].

Importantly, CBRN agents will have to be analysed in a variety of possible matrices. Relevant environmental sample matrices are e.g. water, soil, air and swipe samples (to measure for example surface contamination). In addition biomedical sample matrices such as blood and urine need to be covered. It should also be emphasised that effective and correct sampling is crucial for reliable identification analysis e.g. [17]. Sample size, number, and distribution, as well as the time and method of transport are crucial.

A final critical aspect is safety. Safety aspects of analysing samples in dedicated CBRN-facilities is mentioned below. But safety is also important during the steps prior to laboratory analysis, i.e. exploration of the scene, the actual sampling, packaging, transport, sample reception and unpacking. It should be stressed that safety does not only concern possible contamination, but also "weapon-related" aspects such as the presence of explosives as a mixed threat, means of dissemination or as booby-traps.

3.1. Analysis of chemical substances

Analytical methods used by chemical laboratories with capabilities for the immediate incident response, forensic investigations and post monitoring have been reviewed. Methods for the analyses of chemical substances of interest are described in databases like EPA [8], OSHA and NIOSH [18]. An overview of sampling and analysis procedures for CWA's and related compounds, is provided in the Blue Book from Verifin and the NATO-SIBCRA handbook [19,20].

The most abundant analytical techniques are: Gas chromatography- Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS) [21], Atomic Absorption Spectroscopy (AAS) [22], ICP-MS [23], X-Ray Fluorescence (XRF) [24] and Ion Chromatography (IC) [25]. For CBRN-related chemicals mass spectrometry is the most commonly used method of analysis. This technique is very useful for screening because of the MS library search function. In case the compound of interest is known, the analysis can be performed again in a more sensitive Single Ion Monitoring (SIM) mode to obtain a higher sensitivity and thus being able to determine lower concentrations. Although GC-MS offers great possibilities, better analytical techniques are available as well. Especially when the chemical of interest is known, the analytical technique can be tailored to the compound.

In the last 20 years Liquid Chromatography (LC)- MS has been developed to an affordable routine analytical technique, equipped for high throughput analyses [26–28]. For certain compounds the (LC)- MS is favoured over GC-MS, especially for larger molecules with low volatility. In some cases the detectability of the compound is also more sensitive. For example detection limits of VX in the pg/ ml range can easily be obtained. Secondly, some low volatile compounds require derivatization in order to be analysed with GC-MS, while they can be analysed as original chemicals using LC-MS. Thirdly, LC-MS is more suitable for handling aqueous samples, while for GC-MS a transfer to a GC- compatible solvent is required. The progress in mass spectrometry itself has been significant in the last few decades as well. Tandem MS techniques offer high selectivity and sensitivity. Another major development in mass spectrometry is the improvement in accuracy and precision of the mass determination. New Time of Flight (TOF) or Orbitrap instruments enable accurate mass determination helping the identification of unknown chemicals by providing suggestions on the molecular formula [29,30].

Inorganic compounds can be detected using atomic absorption spectrometry or XRF techniques. These instruments operate autonomously and are dedicated to determine the total metal content in samples. They do not provide information about the chemical itself, but in most cases the toxicity of the compound is caused by the element, in this case the metal. A derivative of the technology is also available as selective detector for GC (e.g. Atomic Emission Detector) [31]. Using this technique samples can be screened for compounds with specific elements (e.g. lewisite derivatives). Finally, IC is recommended for the analysis of ionogenic compounds, since these compounds cannot be analysed with GC or LC-MS.

In the immediate phase quick identification can be possible with handheld identifiers based on Fourier Transform Infrared Spectrometer (FTIR) or Raman detection. These techniques are not equipped to analyse samples that contain multiple components. If available, more sophisticated analyses can be performed in a mobile laboratory that is often equipped with GC-MS. However these analytical techniques are more time consuming. A typical analysis of a persistent chemical agent including sample preparation will take at least one hour. Some of the samples will be sent to a laboratory for quick analysis with any of the screening techniques mentioned above. In this phase the level of identification is provisional.

During a forensic case the laboratory focus will be on the unambiguous identification of the agent. Additionally the analysis of chemical attribution signatures can provide more information on the origin of the actual agent. The requirements for this type of analysis are very high, but the identification of chemicals is considered as the weak link in the chemical analysis [32].

In most cases during the post incident monitoring phase the compounds of interest have been identified. The challenge will be in the sensitivity of the analysis that is needed to determine low levels of agent. Additionally the number of samples might be very large and could overwhelm the capacity of one laboratory. In that case samples may be sent to other laboratories.

Obviously for each chemical a number of alternative techniques can be used, that might provide equally good or even better measurements for the particular compound that is analysed, but not all methods are suitable for all analytical purposes/applications.

3.2. Analysis of biological agents

Recognition of a silent release of biological substances is particularly difficult. Infected humans or animals will develop clinical symptoms, which can function as a first alert. However this is only after an incubation period during which the carriers may move away from the site of the release. Such scenario may lead to numerous clinical samples, possibly require international cooperation and considerable screening efforts in order to localise the site of release and to identify the perpetrator. If there has been a warning of a potential release of biological agents or a typical crime scene can be identified, e.g., release of powder or a laboratory facility, sampling and analysis of environmental samples are required. In the case of an unknown sample, the focus will be on identification. If the threat agent is known, the focus can also be on quantification and the ability to analyse many samples in a certain time period.

We have reviewed established identification methods with respect to potential benefit from standardisation, harmonisation or introducing best practice. In general, identification assays must be sensitive and specific, capable of detecting low concentrations of target agents without interference from background materials, reproducible and reliable [33,34]. A number of ISO standard procedures have been developed and implemented for analysis of bacterial agents that are important for the food industry, water quality and clinical diagnostics. Some of these standards can also be of interest for the analysis of biological substances in environmental samples [35].

Laboratories able to analyse highly pathogenic bacteria and viruses require appropriate biosafety facilities including BSL3 and BSL4 as well as experience in analysing and preparing a wide range of pathogenic bacterial and viral agents. If the sampling, handling, sample processing, and storage of the samples are not correctly performed, the biological material for evidence may be lost [36,37]. NATO has produced a handbook that provides procedures and guidelines needed to sample, detect and identify CBRN agents [38]. The ISO18593 standard [39] specifies horizontal methods for sampling techniques using contact plates or swabs on surfaces in the food industry environment, with a view of detecting or enumerating viable microorganisms. The forensic investigation has focus on obtaining unambiguous evidence.

During the immediate incident response First Responders (police, rescue services, ambulance/emergency medical services etc.) can in some cases benefit from using rapid and easy-to-use hand held methods for identification of the biological substances on scene. Example of a technology to be used is the Handheld test Assay (HHA) [40], which is available from different vendors [41]. HHA is a simple, antibody-based assay that can be used for provisional identification of biological substances [42]. However, the sensitivity is often poor and varies between different tests. This may give false results when compared to other tests run in the laboratory, e.g. Enzyme-Linked Immuno Sorbent Assay (ELISA) or Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR). A validation of HHA is needed. The HHA provides only a provisional identification and the results need further analysis to be confirmed. A mobile laboratory performing immunological assays and PCR could also be used for provisional analysis as well as for confirmation analysis [43].

Analysis in a forensic case will be focusing on unambiguous identification of the agent and bioforensic is dedicated to the characterization, analysis, and interpretation of evidence for attributional purposes from a bioterrorism act, biocrime, hoax or inadvertent agent release [44,45]. Different strain typing methods

(genotyping) and whole genome sequencing can be used for bioforensic and the choice of genotyping methods depends on the genetic variance in the different strains of the particular bacteria and available resources of the laboratory [46,47]. In general, genotyping methods involve a PCR analysis step, which is a technique commonly established in laboratories.

For analysis of samples containing biological agents in the post incident monitoring phase, methods such as immunological approaches (ELISA) and real-time PCR can be used. For confirmation of viable bacteria, culturing on agar is required, which can be supplemented with molecular methods such as PCR or DNA sequencing and with immunological methods [33,48]. Another applicable method on culturable bacteria is matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time of flight (MALDI TOF) [49,50]. The deployment of next-generation DNA-sequencing technologies (NGS) has greatly enhanced capabilities for sequencing large meta-data sets and has the capability to fully characterize the microbiological content in samples. NGS has a very high coverage rate i.e. most biological material in the sample is detected, enabling detection of even low frequency impurities such as pathogenic microorganisms [51–54].

One of the challenges for any harmonisation attempt in the field of biological analyses lies in the complexity of many procedures and, in the fact, that details in the methods have often been developed in-house. BSL-3 laboratories around Europe are constructed and organised differently. Thereby, the procedures and equipment used in the different laboratories may vary and strict standardisation might be difficult. In addition, molecular biological and immunological methods require highly agent specific reagents. Internal controls, validation of procedure and methods and evaluation of reagents and accuracy of every step of the procedures are therefore vital in order to guarantee reliable, specific, sensitive and reproducible identification of biological substances in different laboratories and countries (quality control and quality assessment).

3.3. Analysis of radio-nuclear substances

In the immediate incident response phase, fast analytical techniques requiring no or few sample preparation steps have to be used [55–57] in order to confirm on-site measurements mainly based on transportable gamma spectrometry. Such techniques consist of high resolution gamma spectrometry, gross alpha and beta counting techniques. Most of the laboratories in charge of environmental monitoring are currently using these kinds of techniques [58,59]. Furthermore, the fast analytical techniques need to be supplemented by techniques for nuclide specific analysis of alpha and beta emitters in order to better identify the RN substance involved in the accident or incident. Techniques for nuclide specific analysis of alpha and beta emitters may also be required where lower limits of detection are needed than can be obtained using gammaspectrometry. However, those methods are generally time-consuming and challenging. All these methods and techniques are also used in the post-incident monitoring phase.

For forensic investigations, other analytical techniques have to be used to identify the origin of the substance [60]. These techniques require very skilled staff, are time-consuming and consist mainly of specific mass spectrometric techniques such as Thermo-Ionisation Mass Spectrometry (TIMS), Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometry (ICPMS), and Secondary Ion Mass Spectrometry (SIMS) [61,62].

If an unknown sample is classified as being exclusively radiological, i.e. biological and chemical hazards can be excluded, a generic approach can be adopted. Depending on the purpose for the analysis different steps will be reached. The first step in the sequence is to use screening methods to confirm the *in situ* measurements (gamma spectrometry, gross alpha and beta counting techniques). In the next step the sample is divided into sub-samples for a non-

destructive analysis for nuclear forensic characterisation (gamma spectrometry, imaging and microanalysis techniques e.g. SEM, TEM, SIMS) or an RN specific analysis for the evaluation of health and environmental impact (gamma spectrometry, alpha spectrometry, beta liquid scintillation or ICPMS). The non-destructive analysis for the forensic characterisation is followed by destructive analysis (alpha spectrometry, TIMS, ICPMS, beta liquid scintillation) [63].

Most analytical methods are well described in national and international standards. Only for certain biomedical matrices i.e. urine and feaces, standard methods are lacking. For nuclear forensics, the standardisation of analytical methods is more challenging since nuclear forensics does not consist of routine procedures that can be universally applied to all samples but is an iterative process in which the results from one analysis are used to guide the selection of subsequent analyses. Standardised methods are therefore difficult to implement for this analytical purpose since each case can be different. However, a general approach has been adopted by the Nuclear Forensics International Technical Working Group (ITWG) [64] and consists of a series of analytical methods starting with nondestructive analyses (gamma spectroscopy, micro-analysis techniques) followed by elemental and isotopic analyses using mainly mass spectrometry [65]. Proficiency Testing Schemes (PTS) cover all types of matrices, including biological samples, and most of the radionuclides expected to be present in a RN incident. Certified Reference Materials for calibration of instruments or to be used as tracers do exist for most matrices and radionuclides. PTS are organized at an international level by the ITWG. However, creation of ITWG in 1996, only three PTS have been organized on plutonium and Highly Enriched Uranium (HEU), with only between 6 and 10 laboratories participating [66].

4. Suggestions and perspectives for standardisation activities

Our review of the requirements for analytical procedures has shown that in many cases multiple protocols (technical or procedural solutions) are available for C, B and RN sample analysis. Many times – particularly in the area of B sample analysis – methods comprise of in-house developed components. Certain steps in the analytical process, i.e. sampling, documentation and reporting, are not regulated or harmonized, yet very important for the quality of the analysis and for communicating results between the various stakeholders of a CBRN incident. A number of ISO standard procedures have been developed for quality assurance in other fields, e.g. food security, water quality, clinical diagnostics, that could be adapted for analysis of environmental CBRN samples.

While the variety in available methods offers the potential benefit of obtaining the same result by using independent, alternative methods, it requires comparability of the results. Furthermore, highend technologies are not widely used by laboratories, not always necessary (immediate incident response) and are less suitable as recommended standards because of the high costs for equipment and staff training. In addition, flexibility in the choice of method might be needed when attempting to identify unknown threat agent(s) in a sample or for forensic purposes, in which cases the analyses are rather investigative than straightforward. In any case, the analytical method itself may need to be tailored to the type of the sample and the agent that is likely to be identified. Therefore, the method itself is less suitable for standardization, but a number of alternative methods for a specific purpose can be collected on a list of recommended techniques. Other steps of the analytical process, e.g. sampling, transport, reporting, as well as documentation (chain of custody) and staff training can and should be standardised to a higher degree (see sections 4.1. to 4.3.).

In addition, threat levels or tolerability of residual hazard levels often vary between countries. Such gaps can make the interpretation of analytical data and recommendations for operational and for clearance use difficult. Knowledge about normal background levels in the various sample matrices is scarce and complicate the interpretation of results. Research might also be necessary for more clarity on the fate or the persistence of CBRN agents in environmental and in biomedical matrices (degradation, modification, accumulation).

4.1. Immediate incident response

On scene detection of CBRN agents by the First Responders was identified as one of the critical areas. Specifically, First Responders should have the capacity to detect i) chemical substances like CWA, sulphur dioxide, chlorine, hydrogen cyanide and explosive hydrocarbons, ii) microorganisms on species level within 15 minutes (methodologies already exist for about 10 biological agents), and iii) gamma radiation. The necessary instruments should pass through regular functional checks and verification tests, and should include checking of expiration dates on antibodies and other reagents. All detection instruments should also have a standardised manufacturing calibration. The effort laid down on the equipment needs to be combined with staff training and exercises in how and when to use the equipment.

Poor communication between sampling teams, the police, administrative staff and laboratories can result in poor quality or insufficient quantities of samples being collected to render the analysis meaningless. Therefore, attention should be given to ensuring good communication between the different stakeholders during collection of samples, and accurate documentation to accompany the sample. Better standardisation would ensure information on how, where, why and when the sample was taken, and by whom. During a large incident involving the collection of different sample types, this approach will help a great deal with reporting and prioritising of work

During a cross border incident, resilience can also be strengthened through harmonised document information and reporting, presented consistently to avoid conflicting messages between countries. One option could be the development of a sample submission form. This may be met with resistance from some countries and so a checklist approach might be a better way to proceed on a European scale, where all the necessary details can be included in the checklist but the reporting organisation is not obliged to fill in all the fields.

As the First Responders motivation for standardisation is driven by a functional conformity that contributes to a more efficient and precise response, minimum requirements are recommended for detection, sampling and transport to an off-site laboratory for confirmative analysis. Additional requirements should include a sampling checklist.

4.2. Forensic investigations

The motivation for standardisation is probably highest in this area, where law enforcement is the customer, and analytical results are intended to aid prosecution of a perpetrator. The entire sample handling will have to stand trial and a standardised chain of custody is of outmost importance as is documentation of the analytical procedures and interpretation of the results. However, because of the often investigative character of sample analyses, the analytical techniques can be chosen from a list of recommended methods.

Apart from the strict regulations and proficiency test schemes of the Organisation for the Prohibition of Chemical Weapons (OPCW) and SIBCRA, serving military purposes, a few civilian initiatives of laboratory networks in the area of forensics exist that ought to be extended and enforced: the World Anti Doping Association (WADA) [67], ITWG [64] and the national Bioforensic Analysis and Countermeasures Center in USA (NBFAC) [68].

4.3. Post incident monitoring (mid-/long-term perspective)

For a laboratory to quantify levels of contamination or the success of decontamination efforts, appropriate samples have to be collected, along with controls and blanks, under controlled conditions and using appropriate documentation procedures. This aspect of sample collection does not necessarily need to be performed to a highly standardised level that is applicable across all European Member States. A number of existing guidelines and technical documents provide guidance on appropriate sampling strategies. It would therefore be sensible to adopt recommended best sampling strategies for post incident monitoring that allow sample analysis and support the laboratory in obtaining the requested information. Such instructions can include information on instrumentation and on sample containers to use for different agents; whether or not preservatives can or should be added; at which temperature samples are to be stored in transit; matrices, volumes and numbers of samples required; as well as duration and condition of sample storage before handing over to the analytical laboratory. In addition, and similar to the need for operational use (section 4.1), we suggest accurate sample documentation at an intermediate level of standardisation i.e. best practice for this purpose.

Furthermore, the conditions under which samples are transported need to be standardised and better documented. The transport regulations that already are in place for commercial courier services can be supplemented with a documentation of transport conditions (temperature, time) [69-76]. Harmonisation of existing regulations would allow for smooth border inspection and rapid validation by the receiving country in cases of multinational cooperation. In international proficiency test schemes existing procedures are already applied, when small sample volumes are distributed to the participating laboratories. Another example of cross border transport is how the OPCW laboratories work to analyse samples possibly containing chemical warfare agents following a conflict. These examples show that well-rehearsed and acceptable mechanisms exist, which can be broadened to larger networks of laboratories and can be adapted to serve CBRN incident management purposes across national borders.

4.4. Laboratory network

Sections 3.1. to 3.3. dealing with the analytical techniques clearly show the need for laboratories that can perform quality analyses of biomedical and environmental samples under various circumstances, e.g. fast analysis for immediate incident response, mass screening during post-incident surveillance or highly specific forensic agent profiling. In addition, considering the risk of cross-border incidents or a lack of specific laboratory capacities in single EU member states, it is also important to link and to harmonize the existing capacities. This means not only that sampling and analysis procedures need to be validated, but also that there should be a common understanding of best practices, quality assurance measures, and even of organisational structures in order to allow for comparability of results and complementarity of analytical capacities in EU member states.

Throughout our work we have seen a need for a dedicated, organised and official networks of CBRN laboratories across Europe. We find it important to establish an overarching list of European laboratories capable of performing accurate analyses for specific agents and purposes.

The use of the term standardisation for analytical methods might discourage laboratories from implementing unfamiliar but validated standardised methods as standardisation is often understood as involving very strict regulations and leaving little room for individual solutions. However, as we have pointed out in the beginning there are many forms of standardisation. Therefore it is preferable

to develop a set of "harmonised" alternative analytical methods for laboratories to use. The best way to determine the suitability of these methods is to perform proficiency test exercises through an established network of laboratories. Apart from exercises for military organisations, e.g. SIBCRA, exercises should also be performed for the civilian sector. Such exercises can be used to share information, learn from each other and build trust. Also, it is difficult to standardise methods for which certified reference materials are lacking. However, standardisation is useful for quality assurance and control, especially for provisional identification in the field.

Closer collaboration between military and civilian laboratories is an opportunity to improve preparedness and this could be achieved by joint proficiency test exercises. Another benefit of proficiency testing is the harmonisation of reporting formats. A model to closely consider for the successful management of large laboratory networks is the one used by the Environmental Response Laboratory Network (ERLN) in the USA [77]. This could be considered together with the framework provided by the European Reference Network for Critical Infrastructure Preparedness (ERNCIP) [78].

Whilst countries have preparedness plans which clearly define the roles and responsibilities of different national organisations and individuals in case of a CBRN incident, the stipulated procedures are often not well-rehearsed and do not always operate at the level of the decision maker. This may be due to a low perceived threat. An increase in the frequency with which preparedness plans are exercised would help reduce this risk; all stakeholders, including those at policy level, should be included regardless of exercise type (tabletop, command post, coordinated practical field exercises). Multiagency training exercises should be prioritised; laboratories, government agencies and intelligence services should all take part in the preparedness planning.

We believe that high quality laboratory capacity and interoperability can be facilitated through proficiency test schemes, multiagency training exercises and broader accreditation according to several already existing international standards, i.e. ISO/IEC 17025 for laboratories, ISO 17043 for PTS providers and ISO Guide 34 for certified reference material producers [79–81].

5. Conclusions

In summary, we have here provided an overview of existing standards and additional requirements for CBRN sample analysis that will be necessary in order to move towards a harmonised, interoperable and resource efficient European response capability. Apart from concrete suggestions for improvements of First Responders' detection capability, recommendations for sample transport (across national borders) and for sample documentation, we primarily suggest to establish lasting purpose-oriented networks of dedicated C, B or RN laboratories and to equip them with the mandate (and accompanying resources) to further develop the necessary standards. This mandate should include accreditation according to existing standards with proficiency test schemes as *modus operandi* for collecting and exchanging best practices and determining minimum performance requirements.

Naturally, the three capability levels of laboratory analyses, i.e. immediate incident response, forensics and post-incident monitoring, are not necessarily mutually exclusive. Depending on their expertise individual laboratories might participate in more than one network and provide different services during the life span of a CBRN event.

For any harmonisation process to succeed it is of outmost importance to recognise the customers and to integrate their needs. Often the customer will be a national public service agency (police, public health agency) or a local, regional or national government. Moreover, during incident response the customer may shift from local to national level. Therefore, the standardisation process ought to be both horizontal and vertical. In the case of standardising

laboratory CBRN sample analysis for a more resilient European society we find it necessary to engage with the European Member States. The outputs from the FP7 funded project SLAM and the experience gained by other European initiatives have demonstrated the necessity for political will to drive the standardisation approach on a policy level and to ensure implementation of European agreements.

Acknowledgement

This work has been supported by the European Commission under the 7th Framework Programme, theme, "Towards standardisation of CBRN detection and identification" [SEC-2011.5.4-1]. Contract n°:285410. We are grateful to all contributors to FP7 project Standardisation of laboratory analytical methods (SLAM). The opinions presented in this paper are those of the authors and do not represent the views of the organisations they work for.

References

- [1] EU CBRN Action Plan, 2009.
- [2] Decision No 1082/2013/Eu of the European parliament and of the council of 22 October 2013 on serious cross-border threats to health, 2013.
- [3] CEN, European Standardisation Committee. http://standards.cen.eu/dyn/www/f? p=204:7:0::::FSP_ORG_ID:680331&cs=18422BF6F2CD25C72E8F633D87A8147AB, December 2015
- [4] Standardisation of laboratory analytical methods, SLAM. http://www.cbrne.umu.se/english/Research+and+Development/completed-projects/slam/, December 2015.
- [5] CEN/CENELEC, European standardisation. http://www.cencenelec.eu/ standards/DefEN/Pages/default.aspx, December 2015.
- [6] M. Griffiths, L. Ewers, E. Idahosa-Taylor, T. Aarskaug, S. Gebert, A. Tovedal, et al., Stakeholder and co-beneficiary workshop to discuss outputs of work packages 1-4, D5.1 of the FP7 project SLAM 2013.
- [7] M. Griffiths, S. Gebert, K. Arnoldsson, B. Giljam, R. Duarte Davidson, Intercalibration round robin exercise for CBRN reference laboratories, D5.2 of the FP7 project SLAM 2014.
- [8] Standardized Analytical Methods for Environmental Restoration Following Homeland Security Events – SAM 2010 (Revision 6.0) EPA/600/R-10/122. http://www.epa.gov/sam, October 2010.
- [9] D.R. Franz, P.B. Jahrling, A.M. Friedlander, D.J. McClain, D.L. Hoover, W.R. Bryne, et al., Clinical recognition and management of patients exposed to biological warfare agents, JAMA 278 (1997) 399–411.
- [10] J.C. Young, G.R. Hansen, T.K. Graves, M.P. Deasy, J.G. Humphreys, C.L. Fritz, et al., The incubation period of hantavirus pulmonary syndrome, Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 62 (2000) 714–717.
- [11] M. Kortepeter, G. Christopher, T. Cieslak, R. Culpepper, R. Darling, J. Pavlin, et al., USAMRIID 's Medical Management of Biological Casualties Handbook, Maryland USA, 2001.
- [12] G.L. Mandell, M.G. Bennett, R. Dolin, Principles and Practice of Infectious Diseases, sixth ed., Elsevier Inc., USA, 2005.
- [13] M. Kramski, K. Achazi, B. Klempa, D.H. Krüger, Nephropathia epidemica with a 6-week incubation period after occupational exposure to Puumala hantavirus, J. Clin. Virol. 44 (2009) 99–101.
- [14] IAEA Categorization of radioactive sources, IAEA, Safety Standards, Safety Guide RS-G-1.9, 2005.
- [15] IAEA Categorization of radioactive sources, IAEA TECDOC-1344, 2003.
- [16] IAEA Illicit Trafficking Database. http://www-ns.iaea.org/security/itdb.asp, 2012.
- [17] Occupational Safety & Health Administration. https://www.osha.gov/SLTC/etools/anthrax/sampling.html#coordination, December 2015.
- [18] NIOSH, Manual of Analytical Methods. http://www.osha.gov/dts/sltc/methods/toc.html, 2015.
- [19] Verifin, Recommended Operating Procedures for Analysis in the Verification of Chemical Disarmament: Blue Book, 2011 ed., University of Helsinki, Finland, Verifin, 2011.
- [20] NATO, AEP-10, Nato handbook for sampling and identification of biological and chemical warfare agents, SIBCRA hand book.
- [21] W.M.A. Niessen, Current Practice of Gas Chromatography–Mass Spectrometry, Marcel Dekker, New York, NY, 2001. ISBN 0-8247-0473-8.
- [22] J.A.C. Broekaert, Analytical Atomic Spectrometry with Flames and Plasmas, third ed., Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, Germany, 1998.
- [23] R.S. Houk, V.A. Fassel en, H.J. Svec, Inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry: sample introduction, ionisation, ion extraction and analytical results, in: Dynamic Mass Spectrometry, vol. 234, sixth ed., Price and Todd, Heyden, London, 1981.
- [24] B. Beckhoff, B. Kanngießer, N. Langhoff, R. Wedell, H. Wolff, Handbook of Practical X-Ray Fluorescence Analysis, Springer, 2006. ISBN 3-540-28603-9.
- [25] T. Weiss, J. Weiss, Handbook of Ion Chromatography, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2005. ISBN 3-527-28701-9.

- [26] R.E. Ardrey, R. Ardrey, Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry: An Introduction, J. Wiley, London, 2003. ISBN 0-471-49801-7.
- [27] E.M. Thurman, I. Ferrer, Liquid Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry, MS/MS and time of flight MS: Analysis of Emerging Contaminants, American Chemical Society, Columbus, OH, 2003. ISBN 0-8412-3825-1.
- [28] W.M.A. Niessen, W.M. Niessen, Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry, third ed., Chromatographic Science, CRC, Boca Raton, 2006. ISBN 0-8247-4082-3.
- [29] A. Makarov, E. Denisov, A. Kholomeev, W. Balschun, O. Lange, K. Strupat, et al., Performance evaluation of a hybrid linear ion trap/orbitrap mass spectrometer, Anal. Chem. 78 (2006) 2113–2120.
- [30] A. Makarov, E. Denisov, O. Lange, S. Horning, Dynamic range of mass accuracy in LTQ Orbitrap hybrid mass spectrometer, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 17 (2006) 977–982
- [31] P.C. Uden, Element-Specific Chromatographic Detection by Atomic Emission Spectroscopy, American Chemical Society, Columbus, OH, 1992. ISBN 0-8412-2174-X.
- [32] R. De Zeeuw, Substance identification: the weak link in analytical toxicology, J. Chromatogr, B Analyt, Technol, Biomed. Life Sci. 811 (2004) 3–12.
- [33] D.V. Lim, J.M. Simpson, E.A. Kearns, M.F. Kramer, Current and developing technologies for monitoring agents of bioterrorism and biowarfare, Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 18 (2005) 583–607, doi:10.1128/CMR.18.4.583-607.2005.
- [34] J. Ederveen, A practical approach to biological assay validation, Progress report number 0809, Dutch Ministry of Housing, Spatial Planning and Environment (VROM) 2010.
- [35] ISO 20837:2006, Microbiology of food and animal feeding stuffs polymerase chain reaction (PCR) for the detection of food-borne pathogens requirements for sample preparation for qualitative detection 2006.
- [36] B. Budowle, M.D. Johnson, C.M. Fraser, T.J. Leighton, R.S. Murch, R. Chakraborty, Genetic analysis and attribution of microbial forensics evidence, Crit. Rev. Microbiol. 31 (2005) 233–254.
- [37] B. Budowle, S.E. Schutzer, J.P. Burans, D.J. Beecher, T.A. Cebula, R. Chakraborty, et al., Quality sample collection, handling, and preservation for an effective microbial forensics program, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 72 (2006) 6431– 6438
- [38] NATO Handbook for sampling and identification of biological, chemical, and radiological agents, NATO Army Armaments Group, Draft AEP-66 edition 1 2011.
- [39] ISO 18593:2004, Microbiology of food and animal feeding stuffs horizontal methods for sampling techniques from surfaces using contact plates and swabs 2004
- [40] H. Tomaso, P. Thullier, E. Seibold, V. Guglielmo, A. Buckendahl, L. Rahalison, et al., Comparison of hand-held test kits, immunofluorescence microscopy, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, and flow cytometric analysis for rapid presumptive identification of yersinia pestis, J. Clin. Microbiol. 45 (2007) 3404–3407.
- [41] CBRNE TECH INDEX TM, HAND HELD Immunoassay. http://www.cbrnetechindex.com/Biological-Detection/Technology-BD/Immunological-BD-T/Hand-Held-Immunoassay-BD-I, 2016.
- [42] U.S. Department of Homeland Security, Guide for Selection of Biological Agent Detection Equipment for Emergency First Responders, Guide 101–06, second ed., Homeland Security, USA, 2007.
- [43] MIRACLE D6.3 Recommendations for an EU CBRN mobile laboratory. Mobile Laboratory Capacity for the Rapid Assessment of CBRN Threats Located within and outside the EU. FP7-SEC-2012-4.4-1.
- [44] B. Budowle, S.E. Schutzer, A. Einseln, L.C. Kelley, A.C. Walsh, J.A. Smith, et al., Public health. Building microbial forensics as a response to bioterrorism, Science 301 (2003) 1852–1853.
- [45] B. Budowle, S.E. Schutzer, S.A. Morse, K.F. Martinez, R. Chakraborty, B.L. Marrone, et al., Criteria for validation of methods in microbial forensics, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 74 (2008) 5599–5607, doi:10.1128/AEM.00966-08.
- [46] A.J. Sabat, A. Budimir, D. Nashev, R. Sá-Leão, J.M. van Dijl, F. Laurent, et al., Overview of molecular typing methods for outbreak detection and epidemiological surveillance, Euro Surveill. 18 (4) (2013) 20380.
- [47] A.J. Vogler, P. Keim, D.M. Wagner, A review of methods for subtyping Yersinia pestis: from phenotypes to whole genome sequencing, Infect. Genet. Evol. 37 (2006) 21–36, doi:10.1016/j.meegid.2015.10.024.
- [48] T. Humppi, T. Haataja, S. Mustalahti, M. Mölsä, E.M. Fykse, T. Tjärnhage, Identification of biological warfare agents – recent progress and future trends. FFI-rapport 2015/01530.
- [49] M. Dybwad, G. Skogan, J.M. Blatny, Temporal variability of the bioaerosol background at a subway station: concentration level, size distribution and diversity of airborne bacteria, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 80 (2015) 257–270.
- [50] E.M. Fykse, T. Tjärnhage, T. Humppi, V. Sørvik Eggen, A. Ingebretsen, G. Skogan, et al., Identification of airborne bacteria by 16S rDNA sequencing, MALDI-TOF MS and the MIDI microbial identification system, Aerobiologia 31 (2015) 271–281, doi:10.11007/s10453-015-9363-9.
- [51] M.E. Guazzaroni, A. Beloqui, P.N. Golyshin, M. Ferrer, Metagenomics as a new technological tool to gain scientific knowledge, World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 25 (2009) 945–954.
- [52] D. Huson, D. Richter, S. Mitra, A. Auch, S. Schuster, Methods for comparative metagenomics, BMC Bioinformatics 10 (2009) S12.
- [53] S.W. Kembel, J.A. Eisen, K.S. Pollard, J.L. Green, The phylogenetic diversity of metagenomes, PLoS ONE 6 (2001) e23214.
 [54] S.N. Gardner, K.G. Frey, C.L. Redden, J.B. Thissen, J.E. Allen, A.F. Allred, et al.,
- [54] S.N. Gardner, K.G. Frey, C.L. Redden, J.B. Thissen, J.E. Allen, A.F. Allred, et al., Targeted amplification for enhanced detection of biothreat agents by nextgeneration sequencing, BMC Res. Notes 8 (2005) 682, doi:10.1186/s13104-015-1530-0.

- [55] NATO, Handbook for sampling and identification of biological, chemical, and radiological agents, NATO Army Armaments Group, Draft AEP-66 edition 1, 2011.
- [56] IAEA, Development of an extended framework for emergency response criteria IAEA TECDOC-1432, 2005.
- [57] IAEA, Criteria for Use in Preparedness and Response for a Nuclear or Radiological Emergency, IAEA Safety Standards, General Safety Guide GSG-2, 2011.
- [58] IAEA, Measurement of radionuclides in food and the environment, IAEA No 295, 1989.
- [59] EPA, Standardized Analytical Methods for Environmental Restoration Following Homeland Security Events, EPA/600/R-10/122, 2010.
- [60] IAEA Nuclear Forensics Support, IAEA Nuclear Security Series No. 2, 2006.
- [61] M.E. Wieser, J.B. Schwieters, The development of multiple collector mass spectrometry for isotope ratio measurements, Int. J. Mass Spectrom. 242 (2005) 97–115.
- [62] G. Tamborini, M. Wallenius, O. Bildstein, L. Pajo, M. Betti, Development of a SIMS method for isotopic measurements in nuclear forensics applications, Mikrochim. Acta 139 (2002) 185–188.
- [63] F.E. Stanley, A.M. Stalcup, H.B. Spitz, A brief introduction to analytical methods in nuclear forensics, J. Radioanal. Nucl. Chem. 295 (2013) 1385–1393.
- [64] Nuclear forensics international technical working group. http://www.nf-itwg.org, 2016.
- [65] K. Mayer, M. Wallenius, I. Ray, Nuclear forensics a methodology providing clues on the origin of illicitly trafficked nuclear materials, Analyst 130 (2005) 433–441.
- [66] R. Hanlen, Round Robin 3 Exercise After Action and Lessons Learned Report, Nuclear Forensics International Technical Working Group, 2011.
- [67] WADA Technical document TD2003IDCR, 2003.

- [68] National Biodefense Analysis and Countermeasures Center. http://www.dhs.gov/science-and-technology/national-biodefense-analysis-and-countermeasures-center, 2016.
- [69] IAEA Safety Standard, Specific Safety Requirements SSR-6, Regulations for the Safe Transport of Radioactive Material, 2012.
- [70] ISO standard 10381 series "Soil Quality Sampling", 2002.
- [71] IATA Dangerous goods regulation, 2013.
- [72] International Maritime Organisation Dangerous Goods (IMDG) code, 2010.
- [73] Directive 2008/68/EC of the European parliament and of the council of 24 September 2008 on the inland transport of dangerous goods, 2008.
- [74] ECE/TRANS/225, European Agreement concerning the International Carriage of Dangerous Goods by Road (ADR 2013), published:September 2012.
- [75] UNECE, Recommendations on the Transport of Dangerous Goods, seventeenth ed., UN. https://www.unece.org/trans/danger/danger.html, 2015.
- [76] WHO, Guidance on regulations for the Transport of Infectious Substances 2013–2014, WHO/CDS/EPR/2010.8, 2013.
- [77] Environmental Response Laboratory Network. http://www.epa.gov/emergency-response/environmental-response-laboratory-network, 2016.
- [78] European Reference Network for Critical Infrastructure Preparedness. https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/network-bureau/european-reference-network-critical-infrastructure-protection-erncip, 2016.
- [79] ISO/IEC 17025:2005 General requirements for the competence of testing and calibration laboratories, 2005.
- [80] ISO/IEC 17043:2010 Conformity assessment general requirements for proficiency testing, 2010.
- [81] ISO Guide 34:2009 General requirements for the competence of reference material producers, 2009.